IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1366

ANA MARIA CARDONA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TODD G. SCHER Litigation Director Florida Bar No. 0899641 CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 NE 3d Avenue Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal involves a Rule 3.850 motion on which an evidentiary hearing was granted on some issues, and summarily denied on others. References in the Brief shall be as follows:

(R. \_\_\_) -- Record on Direct appeal;

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On January 11, 1990, Ana Cardona and co-defendant Olivia Gonzalez Mendoza were indicted and charged with first-degree murder and aggravated child abuse for the death of Ms. Cardona's son, Lazaro Figueroa. Attorney Bruce H. Fleisher was appointed to represent Gonzalez, and after the Public Defender's Office certified a conflict, attorneys Ron Gainor and William Castro were appointed to represent Ana Cardona. Castro's involvement in the case ceased on August 27, 1991, and Andrew Kassier was later appointed to assist Mr. Gainor in representing Ms. Cardona.

On February 14, 1992, Gonzalez-Mendoza changed her previouslyentered not guilty pleas to guilty for a reduced charge of Second Degree Murder as to Count I of the indictment, pursuant to a previously-arranged plea deal with the State of Florida.<sup>1</sup>

Ms. Cardona's trial commenced March 5, 1992, and on March 20, she was found guilty of first-degree murder and aggravated child abuse (R. 3417). A penalty phase commenced on March 25 (R. 3495). The jury recommended death by a vote of 8-4 (R. 3785). The court imposed death and 15 years (R. 3800). HAC was the sole aggravator found (R. 3802). The court found the existence of mitigating circumstances, but afforded them little weight due to the lack of evidence and the fact that the court did not believe that Ms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>On April 6, 1992, the trial court sentenced Gonzalez to 40 years on Second Degree murder conviction, and a concurrent 15 years for aggravated child abuse (R. 3824). In 1995, Gonzalez filed a Rule 3.850 motion alleging that counsel coerced her to change her plea and therefore her plea was invalid. The summary denial of her motion was affirmed by the Third District. <u>Gonzalez-Mendoza v.</u> <u>State</u>, 678 So. 2d 345 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996).

Cardona suffered from any major mental illness (R. 3807-11). On direct appeal, this Court affirmed. <u>Cardona v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 115 S. Ct. 1122 (1995).

Ms. Cardona filed her original motion for postconviction relief on March 20, 1997. Following a series of orders tolling time under Rules 3.851 and 3.852, as well as public records litigation, a final motion was filed in July, 1999. After a hearing pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993), the court orally granted an evidentiary hearing on some claims and orally denied others. The evidentiary hearing was conducted on May 16-18, 2000, with closing arguments on May 19. 5 days later, the court entered its order of denial. This appeal follows.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. No adversarial testing occurred at the guilt phase for numerous reasons, and the lower court's order failed to address many issues and failed to apply proper legal standards. The State admittedly withheld 3 interviews it had conducted with the codefendant Gonzalez. These interviews, as the lower court found, would have provided the defense with abundant additional impeachment of Gonzalez. Moreover, the State failed to correct Gonzalez's false testimony at trial that prior to entering into her plea she never discussed her case with the State. Defense counsel also rendered prejudicially deficient performance in failing to adequately cross-examine Dr. Merry Haber about her opinion that Gonzalez suffered from a dependent personality and battered spouse syndrome, failed to present evidence of Gonzalez's confessions,

failed to rebut the battered spouse syndrome, failed to present evidence that another person had confessed, failed to seek a change of venue, and failed to object to prosecutorial closing argument. These errors must be considered cumulatively, and Ms. Cardona is entitled to a new trial.

All of the information relating to the inadequacy of the 2. guilt phase applies equally to the penalty phase, in particular the issues relating to the credibility of codefendant Gonzalez. In addition, defense counsel's presentation of inconsistent mental health theories at the penalty phase was prejudicially deficient. The defense put on two experts who completely contradicted each other, yet had another expert who would not have provided inconsistent theories had he been called in lieu of the ones that were. In light of only one aggravator, the jury's close 8-4 vote, the mitigation presented below, Ms. Cardona was prejudiced. The lower court's order fails to address many of the issues on which a hearing was granted, fails to apply proper legal standards, and findings are not supported by competent and substantial evidence.

3. Numerous public records were withheld. The lower court erred in finding many of the records irrelevant. The lower court also sealed a number of documents for *in camera* review, including notes from the State Attorney. Any notes regarding witness preparation or interviews, particularly relating to the codefendant, should be disclosed to Ms. Cardona.

4. The lower court erred in summarily denying Ms. Cardona's claim that she was incompetent and that counsel failed to seek a

competency hearing. Indicia of incompetency were known to counsel. An evidentiary hearing is warranted.

5. Ms. Cardona's insanity precludes her execution under the Eighth Amendment.

6. Ms. Cardona is innocent of the death penalty and must be sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole for 25 years.

### ARGUMENT I--NO ADVERSARIAL TESTING AT THE GUILT PHASE.

A. INTRODUCTION. Numerous errors infected the guilt phase. Singularly and cumulatively, these errors require a new trial. This Court reviews the errors herein *de novo*, and defers to any finding of fact that is supported by competent substantial evidence. <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999).

B. <u>BRADY/GIGLIO</u> VIOLATIONS REGARDING OLIVIA GONZALEZ. The State violated its duty under <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), in failing to disclose to Ms. Cardona reports of 3 separate interviews between codefendant Gonzalez and investigators from the State Attorney. The reports, disclosed in the collateral discovery process, were introduced below as exhibits D, E, and K. The State also withheld a letter from Gonzalez's attorney to prosecutors dated September 10, 1991, setting forth Gonzalez's proffered testimony, introduced below as Exhibit A. Following the evidentiary hearing, the State conceded it violated its duty to disclose:

The State does not dispute the fact that there is a violation of our failure to turn over these reports, [we] explained that it wasn't done on purpose but that does not affect the fact that there was the failure for the State to do so.

# (PCR. 1530-31).<sup>2</sup>

Ms. Cardona also asserts that the State presented and failed to correct false testimony through Gonzalez regarding her dealings with the State. At trial, Gonzalez testified that prior to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The State did dispute that it had a duty to disclose the proffer letter.

entering into her deal, she had not spoken anyone about her case, much less the prosecution (R. 2932; 2944). As is now known, that testimony was flatly false and went uncorrected by the State, in violation of <u>Giglio v. United States</u>, 405 U.S. 150 (1972).

The lower court found as a matter of fact that "it is abundantly clear to this Court that those reports would have assisted defense counsel in impeaching Olivia Gonzalez Mendoza" but that Ms. Cardona failed to demonstrate materiality (Supp. PCR. 935). The lower court failed to address the <u>Giglio</u> claim.<sup>3</sup> As demonstrated below, the testimony and exhibits from the evidentiary hearing establish Ms. Cardona's entitlement to relief, and further that the lower court applied an erroneous legal standard in assessing the materiality prong.

1. THE EVIDENCE BELOW.

**a.** Jamie Campbell. Campbell was assigned to the Cardona prosecution, along with Catherine Vogel (PCR. 898). She and Vogel split up the work 50/50, although Vogel was "the lead attorney" and in charge of discovery (<u>Id.</u> at 899). She and Vogel worked on the plea negotiations with Gonzalez (<u>Id</u>. at 900).

Campbell identified a letter dated September 10, 1991 (Exhibit A), as a letter from Gonzalez's attorney, Bruce Fleisher, who had "approached us to see if he could resolve Ms. Gonzalez's case" (<u>Id</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>In fact, the lower court failed to address many of Ms. Cardona's claims. Should the Court determine that Ms. Cardona is not entitled to relief on the claims that the court addressed, she is entitled to a remand so that full consideration of remaining claims can be conducted.

at 903; Exhibit A). The letter was the result of conversations between the prosecutors and Fleisher (<u>Id</u>. at 903-04). To Campbell's knowledge, the issue of a possible negotiation with Gonzalez had not been on the table when Campbell became involved in the case (<u>Id</u>. at 904-05). Prior to the letter, Campbell personally had no involvement in seeking to have Gonzalez interviewed by the office (<u>Id</u>. at 906). Following Fleisher's letter, Campbell and Vogel were "trying to work out the details" and eventually there was "a polygraph" given to Gonzalez; Campbell "had written questions of areas we were concerned" about and provided them to Fleisher (<u>Id</u>. at 907-08; Defense Exhibit B).

Following Fleisher's September 10 letter, Campbell wrote him back, indicating that Gonzalez "will be interviewed by Maria Zerquera and Ray Mier, in your presence, at the State Attorney's Office in Investigations on Thursday, September 9, 1991 at 10:30 AM" (Exhibit C, PCR. 911).<sup>4</sup> She then executed an interoffice memo requesting that Gonzalez be brought to her office on September 19 (PCR. 912; Exhibit D).

Campbell explained that Maria Zerquera, an investigator from the State Attorney's Office, had been on the case from the beginning, and she (Campbell) "probably" would have talked with her prior to the Gonzalez interview or "at least given her the proffer letter" (PCR. 914). Campbell did not attend the Gonzalez interview because "[i]nterviewing witnesses is not one of [my jobs]" and it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Campbell explained that the reference to September 9 must have been a typographical error, since that date preceded the letter itself (PCR. 911).

would not have been "appropriate" for her or Vogel to be present (<u>Id</u>.). Campbell was shown the reports from Gonzalez's three interviews with the State Attorney's Office investigators, but testified that she had "never seen them before" (<u>Id</u>. at 917). Nor could she identify as hers the handwriting on them (<u>Id</u>. at 920). Following the interviews with Gonzalez by her investigators, Campbell spoke with the investigators (<u>Id</u>. at 918), and acknowledged that Gonzalez's statements were subject to disclosure following her plea (PCR. 921).

Campbell also acknowledged that between the date of Gonzalez's plea on February 14, 1992, and the day she testified at trial, Gonzalez "was brought over to the State Attorney's Office prior to her testimony" in order to "you know, to go over what her testimony would be" (PCR. 921).

**b.** Catherine Vogel. Vogel was assigned to prosecute Ms. Cardona's case at the very beginning (PCR. 941). She did not recall when she began to entertain the idea of negotiating a deal with Gonzalez but that it was "later on" in the chronology of the case (<u>Id</u>. at 942). Vogel did not recall "pursuing her" but rather it was her attorney who "pursued us" (<u>Id</u>. at 943).

As to Gonzalez's interviews with the State, Vogel knew that she was interviewed but did not recall making the arrangements (<u>Id</u>. at 944). Maria Zerquera and Ramon Mier, the investigators, would not have talked with Gonzalez without knowledge of and approval by the legal team (<u>Id</u>. at 947). After the investigators' interviews, Vogel would have had a conversation with them but had no "specific

recollection of what was said" and took no notes (<u>Id</u>. at 948). After being shown the reports of the 3 interviews, Vogel testified that she did not know about them at the time they were written (<u>Id</u>. at 949).<sup>5</sup> Vogel conceded that "If I had known that these had

A Now, some of -- some of this looks -- this might be mine, but some of it is not. I don't know how to say it.

No. This is -- I want to say, but by looking at this, it might be my handwriting, but, there again, there are things about it that are not my handwriting. I can't tell you if this is my handwriting or not.

I never made a "T" like this, so this does not look -- some of this looks like mine, some of it does not. I don't know what to tell you. I cannot tell you other than -- I don't think this is mine, "In prison in Cuban mental hospital. In U.S., check."

Q Can you say under oath either way?

A No. I could tell you that this "mental" looks like my handwriting, but the word "Cuba" does not.

I could tell you that the word "hospital" looks like mine, but the word "be" does not.

And the word "check" does not look like mine. So this is somebody who's handwriting is similar to mine. I can't tell you one way or the other.

I'm inclined to tell you that this is not my handwriting.

(PCR. 951). In redirect, Vogel explained that maybe someone purloined her post-it note and stuck it on the report:

Okay, I'm going to tell you something. I never saw that report. I have never seen that report ever. If that is my handwriting, I don't know if it is or not. I told you

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>However, Vogel was shown handwriting on a post-it note that was on one of the reports and acknowledged that "it might be my handwriting, but, there again, there are things about it that are not my handwriting. I can't tell you if this is my handwriting or not" (<u>Id</u>. at 951). She then provided a tortured explanation as to this handwriting:

existed, I would have made copies. I would have turned them over in Discovery, to Ana Cardona's discovery" (<u>Id</u>. at 950).

Vogel also corroborated Campbell's recollection that prior to her testimony, Gonzalez was brought to Vogel's office for a "couple hours" in order to "go over what her testimony would be and also to inform her about what testifying is like" (PCR. 952). This session lasted "[a] couple hours" (Id.).

On cross, Vogel testified that there was nothing different between "the substance" of the statements that Gonzalez made during her polygraphs and what investigator Zerquera told her was said during the 3 interviews with Gonzalez (PCR. 962).<sup>6</sup> Once Gonzalez had become a witness for the State, Vogel listed Gonzalez in its discovery, as well as George and Brian Slattery (who conducted Gonzalez's polygraphs), and Dr. Merry Haber, who was Gonzalez's therapist (<u>Id</u>. at 962-63).<sup>7</sup>

On redirect, Vogel explained that she did not recall specifically what Zerquera had said about the Gonzalez interviews but that "we polygraphed her on what she had told Maria Zerquera.

(<u>Id</u>. at 972).

that. If somebody took one of my sticky notes, I don't know what they did as far as putting it on there if I wrote it out, although I did not put it on this report because I have never seen that report before.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>On direct, Vogel professed a lack of recollection about what Zerquera had told her about the interviews (PCR. 948).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Neither Maria Zerquera nor Ramon Mier, however, were listed in the State's discovery.

So that whatever she would go to the polygraph, the questions that she was asked and the statements that she would give would be consistent with what she had given Maria Zerquera" (<u>Id</u>. at 965). However, Vogel was not sure if Zerquera had attended Gonzalez's polygraphs (<u>Id</u>.).<sup>8</sup> She also could not recall if Zerquera reported to her after each of Gonzalez's interviews or whether she debriefed Vogel after they were all completed (<u>Id</u>.). Zerquera did not go into "great detail" about what Gonzalez had said during these interviews (<u>Id</u>. at 968). According to Vogel, "the big issue was who hit Lazaro in the head with a baseball bat" (<u>Id</u>.).

Vogel also acknowledged that she was the one who conducted Gonzalez's examination at Ms. Cardona's trial and was present when Gonzalez testified as follows:

Q [by Mr. Kassier] Now Miss Gonzalez, you recall that the day you pled guilty to murder and pled guilty to aggravated child abuse was Friday, the 14th, Valentine's Day, correct:

A Yes.

Q And at that time you had not had discussions with the prosecutors about your case; had you?

A No.

(R. 2944) (emphasis added). In light of Gonzalez's numerous conversations with state investigators and the "hours" spent with Vogel going over her testimony, Vogel was asked about whether Gonzalez's testimony was truthful:

Q Now, if Ms. Gonzalez had testified that they had never had any conversations with the State Attorney's

 $^{8}$ There is no indication that she did.

Office prior to the time of her plea, would that have been truthful testimony?

A I don't know. You would have to ask her.

Q Okay. Well, based on what you told us here today, was that truthful testimony? That is a truthful answer?

A Let me --

Q Please. No, please answer my question. Yes or no, was it a truthful answer?

A I don't know.

Q You don't know?

A Again, let me explain to you why.

Q You don't know the answer. Is that your answer, you do not know?

A Sir, I am now going to explain my answer. You are asking me if it is truthful or not. I don't know what her understanding was of conversations with the State Attorney's Office.

First of all, it is clear to me that if she assumed that, we're talking about myself and Ms. Campbell. She had conversations with Maria Zerquera. Whether or not she understood that Maria Zerquera was from the State Attorney's Office, I don't know. So I really can't crawl inside Olivia Gonzalez's head in order to tell you whether or not her testimony is truthful.

Q Okay.

A So I'm not going to venture a guess on whether or not she is telling the truth.

Q You would also have indicated that you had pretried her --

A That's correct.

Q So if she said at her trial at cross that she never spoke to the prosecutors about her case, would that have been truthful?

A I don't know. You would have to talk to her about what her understanding of the question is. I mean, whether or not -- what do you mean by her case?

I don't -- I don't -- I can't crawl inside Olivia Gonzalez's head and tell you whether or not she made a purposeful misstatement of fact. So I'm not going to tell you whether or not I think that that answer is truthful or not.

(PCR. 973-75). Vogel was aware that the law imposes on her a duty to inform the court about and correct false testimony (<u>Id</u>.). c. Maria Zerquera. Zerquera is and was an investigator for the State Attorney's Office (PCR. 977). One of her duties is interviewing witnesses, and as a normal practice she would take notes of interviews (PCR. 983). She would do a report if an interview was extensive and she needed to recall what transpired (Id. at 984).

Zerquera interviewed Gonzalez 3 times; she did not remember who told her to conduct the interviews (<u>Id</u>. at 985). The dates of her three reports were September 19, 1991, October 1, 1991, and October 3, 1991, and were introduced into evidence as exhibits K, L, and M (<u>Id</u>. at 986; 989). After the first interview, she briefed Vogel and Campbell because they "need to know what was going on" (<u>Id</u>. at 996). Her debriefings did not include a line-by-line recitation of her notes (<u>Id</u>. at 997). The reports were accurate memorializations of what occurred during the interviews with Gonzalez (<u>Id</u>. at 1001-02).

**d.** Ramon Mier. Mier worked with Maria Zerquera on Ms. Cardona's case and participated in the Gonzalez interviews (<u>Id</u>. at 1017). Zerquera asked the most questions during the interviews was probably taking the notes (<u>Id</u>. at 1018). He was "sure" that he

and/or Zerquera met with the prosecutors both before and after the interviews (Id. at 1019-20). The reports were written by Zerquera (Id.).

e. Gary Schiaffo. Currently employed as a State Attorney investigator, Schiaffo was previously a detective with the Miami Beach Police Department and headed the investigation of Ms. Cardona's case (<u>Id</u>. at 1023-24). He identified a police report he authored dated November 3, 1990, regarding the results of the autopsy of Lazaro Figueroa (<u>Id</u>. at 1027-29) (Exhibit Q). This report provided in pertinent part:

In addition to these investigations, Sgt. Matthews and Det. Scrimshaw attended the autopsy to the victim (see Det. Scrimshaw's supplement). Dr. Hyma advised that the cause of death was from trauma to the head further being a massive ceribal [sic] Hematoma to the front left lobe extending to the top of the skull. In addition the victim has his right arm broken.

(Exhibit Q).<sup>9</sup>

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