IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1366

ANA MARIA CARDONA,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

LISA A. RODRIGUEZ

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0109370 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5654

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

Defendant argues that counsel's failure to present the evidence related to Gloria Pi/Abbott Avenue weakened Dr. Marina's testimony in that the failure of defense counsel to adduce evidence that

Gloria Pi babysat Lazaro left Dr. Marina's testimony that Defendant took Lazaro to a babysitter uncorroborated and by inference implied Defendant was a liar. However, evidence had been adduced at trial that Defendant took Lazaro to a babysitter at various times. Thus, the jury had no reason to find Dr. Marina's testimony unbelievable. (D.A.R. 2361, 2392) Moreover, an examination of the portion of Dr. Marina's testimony to which Defendant cites in her brief refers to Defendant's allegation to Dr. Marina that Gonzalez had told Defendant she was taking Lazaro to a babysitter at 5480 North Bay Road, the location where Lazaro's body was recovered. (D.A.R. 3691-92) Had the Abbott Avenue evidence been presented, the jury would have heard that 5480 North Bay Road was not, in fact, Gloria Pi's address. (S.R. 592-93) Thus, the Abbott Avenue evidence would only have further demonstrated the falsity of Defendant's story to Dr. Marina.

Additionally, Defendant argues that Defendant was prejudiced by the omission of Gloria Pi's confession, as the confession would have shown HAC was inapplicable or lessened the weight of HAC. This contention is patently refuted by the record at trial and at Defendant's evidentiary hearing. As Mr. Gainor explained at the hearing, Gloria Pi had, by all accounts, only babysat Lazaro for one or two days. (R. 1085) Obviously the extremely limited exposure Gloria Pi had with Defendant would not have affected the jury's finding of HAC when the evidence showed Lazaro had suffered over the

course of eighteen months:

Due to repeated injury, the muscle between the elbow and shoulder of Lazaro's left arm had turned to bone, rendering the arm useless. The child had deep bruises on his left hand and palm that were consistent with defensive wounds. Lazaro's right forearm was fractured, in a manner also consistent with a defensive wound. The child's left leg, which was much thicker than the right, was engorged with blood. His feet and toes also had extensive deep bruises. Some of the child's toenails had been crushed. There were other deep blunt trauma bruises to the child's chest and buttocks. Lazaro's left eye was bruised and there was a laceration on his right eye. There were cigarette burns on the child's cheek and pressure sores all over his body, from being forced to lie in bed for extended periods. The inside of the child's lips was obliterated by scar tissue and his front teeth had been knocked out. There were lacerations to the scalp, the most recent of which was an open festering wound that had allowed meningitis bacteria to invade the child's brain through a skull fracture. blow that caused that fracture also crushed the child's olfactory nerve. A later blow to the head had sheared the nerves connecting the spinal cord to the rear of the child's brain.

Cardona 641 So. 2d at 363. There is no reasonable probability that had Gloria Pi's confession been presented during the penalty phase, the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. Strickland.

As the evidence in the trial record and the testimony at Defendant's evidentiary hearing firmly establish that defense counsel thoroughly researched the Abbott Avenue evidence and considered presenting such during the penalty phase but opted for a different strategy, counsel clearly cannot be deemed deficient for

failing to investigate and present evidence related to this issue. Haliburton.

Moreover, even if counsel had overlooked this defense, Defendant would not be able to establish any prejudice under the facts of her case: Gloria Pi had only babysat Lazaro on one or two occasions and Lazaro suffered continued and horrific abuse over the course of eighteen months in which he was in the sole custody of Defendant. Accordingly, the lower court properly denied this claim.

(4) Alleged Failure to Introduce Gonzalez's Polygraph Results

Defendant contends that her counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce the results of Gonzalez's polygraph tests. However, it was clear at the time of her trial that such was not admissible in Florida without a stipulation, even in a capital case. See Delap v. State, 440 So. 2d 1242 (Fla. 1984). There is presently no case in Florida holding that a defendant may introduce results of polygraph results in the penalty phase. The penalty phase v. Scheffer, 523 U.S. 303 (1998); Kokal v. Dugger, 718 So. 2d 138, 143 (Fla. 1998); Green v. State, 688 So. 2d 301, 304 n.3 (Fla. 1997); Groover v.

¹⁷Rupe v. Wood, 93 F.3d 1434 (9th Cir. 1996) cited by Defendant is distinguishable because in that case the Washington Supreme Court had ruled that although polygraph tests were inadmissible in the guilt phase of a capital trial, they were admissible in the penalty phase. There is no such holding in Florida and Rupe is not binding on this Court. Furthermore, it should be noted that Rupe was decided four years after the trial in this case. Thus, counsel cannot be deemed deficient for failing to argue for the admissibility of polygraph evidence at the time of Defendant's trial. Strickland.

Singletary, 656 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 1995); Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 107 (Fla.), cert denied, 516 U.S. 965 (1995). Since the results of Gonzalez's polygraph would not have been admissible, they could not have affected the outcome of Defendant's guilt or penalty phase. Wood v. Bartholomew, 516 U.S. 1 (1995). As such, the lower court properly denied this claim.

(5) Counsel's Alleged Failure to Object to Constitutional Error

Defendant alleges that her counsel was ineffective for failing to object to comments by the trial court and prosecutor that allegedly violated Caldwell v. Mississippi, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). However, this claim could or should have been raised on direct appeal and is therefore procedurally barred. Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1991). Moreover, given that the comments did not incorrectly state the jury's role in the capital sentencing procedure, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise this nonmeritorious issue. Kokal v. Dugger, 718 So. 2d 138, 143 (Fla. 1998); Groover, 656 So. 2d at 425; Hildwin v. Dugger, 654 So. 107 (Fla.), cert denied, 469 U.S. 1098 (1984); Breedlove v. State, 595 So. 2d 8, 11 (Fla. 1992).

ARGUMENT

III. DEFENDANT'S PUBLIC RECORDS CLAIM WAS PROPERLY DENIED BY THE LOWER COURT.

Defendant complains that she has been denied public records. However, the exhaustive record of her public records litigation demonstrates that the lower court heard her argument with respect to all public record demands and the various agencies responses and objections. On January 7, 1998, the lower court held a hearing in which attorneys on behalf of Florida Department of Corrections, Metro-Dade Police Department, City of Miami Beach, City of Miami, Florida Department of Law Enforcement, Department of Children and Families (DCF), and the Clerk of Court, in which the majority of issues Defendant raises on post-conviction were settled (1579-02)

Defendant argues she has been denied public records from the Florida Department of Corrections (DOC). At the hearing on her public records request, the record reflects she sought copious documents from Florida Department of Corrections that were not relevant to any issue at trial or any of Defendant's post-conviction claims, including DOC organizational charts and visitation logs of other inmates, as well as the medical records of other inmates. (R. 1596) While the lower court granted all medical records pertaining to Defendant, it denied requests pertaining to other inmates that had no bearing on Defendant's case and were burdensome due to the voluminous number of documents encompassed within Defendant's request. (R. 1596, 1591-92, 1594) "The language of section 119.19

and of rule 3.852 clearly provides for the production of public records. . . . However, it is equally clear that this discovery tool is not intended to be a procedure authorizing a fishing expedition for records unrelated to a colorable claim for post-conviction relief." Sims v. State, 753 So. 2d 66, 70 (Fla. 2000).

The lower court also heard Defendant's argument with respect to the public records of the City of Miami Beach. City of Miami Beach objected to Defendant's request for all the records it had on Defendant on the basis that City of Miami Beach complied nearly two years prior to the date of the hearing. (R. 1612) Defendant complains that she was denied access to records related to Defendant's children after they were placed into foster care at the time of Defendant's arrest. However, she fails to mention that the lower court granted her request with respect to all visits from DCF prior to Defendant's arrest, including all abuse reports. (R. 1635) Obviously, events that occurred after Lazaro's murder have no bearing on any of Defendant's claims and unnecessarily threaten the privacy of Defendant's surviving two children.

As Defendant correctly notes, the lower court reviewed over 1000 pages of documents in camera and determined that they were not public record. (R. 1692-93) However, Defendant fails to assert how the lower court erred in making such its determination. Defendant alleges she has been denied public records of notes from State Attorney investigators "secret meetings" with Gonzalez. However,

Defendant received the reports from the investigators three interviews with Defendant. (See Defendant's Argument I, in which alleges the reports were a Brady violation) The lower court sustained the State's objection to the relevance of the prosecutor's personnel records, and Defendant has not alleged how the lower court's ruling was erroneous. Sims v. State, 753 So. 2d 66 (Fla. 2000).

Defendant also complains she was denied public records in the possession of the City of Miami Beach Police Department and the State Attorney's Office related to Doris Cuto, Eduardo Ortero, Jose Rosario, Jose Ventrano, Mr. Calderon, and Manuael Fleitas. (R. 1569-76) After individually reviewing the subject documents, the lower court found the documents from the State Attorney's Office were barely legible hand-written notes made by the prosecutors reflecting "notes to themselves" regarding cases and the documents from the City of Miami Beach Police Department were irrelevant to Defendant's case and in some instances merely misfiled documents. (R. 1574) Again, Defendant has failed to allege how the lower court's ruling misapplied the law under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.852. Sims v. State, 753 So. 2d 66 (Fla. 2000).

Lastly, Defendant sought the names and addresses of the jurors from Defendant's trial, as well as any criminal information related to the jurors despite the fact there has never been any allegation that any of the jurors lied in any manner. Furthermore, Defendant

requested all such information without providing any dates of birth, social security numbers, addresses or other identifying information (R. 772) Defendant cites Buenoano v. State, 708 So. 2d 941 (Fla. 1998). However that case involved a juror who had lied about his criminal history such that the information related to that juror's criminal history became relevant. Id. In the instant case, there is no evidence or even allegation that any juror lied.

The lower court held extensive hearings with regard to Defendant's public records request and ruled on the compliance of every agency that Defendant challenged, including exemptions claimed by the agencies. Defendant has failed to establish how the lower court erred in any of its rulings. Accordingly, the lower court correctly summarily denied this claim.

ARGUMENT

IV. DEFENDANT WAS COMPETENT AT THE TIME OF TRIAL; THUS, THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED THIS CLAIM.

Defendant contends the lower court erred in summarily denying her claims regarding competency. In the course of making this claim, Defendant convolutes three separate and distinct claims: a procedural imcompetency claim; an ineffective assistance of counsel claim regarding competency; and a substantive imcompetency claim. Each of these claims is analytically distinct and without merit.

With regard to the procedural imcompetency claim, this claim is governed by Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 (1966). However, the trial court never received Dr. Nathanson's report, which opined Defendant was marginally competent. Moreover, the record reflects that the three court-appointed experts, Drs. Castiello, Schwartz, and Jacobson, all opined that Defendant was clearly competent to stand trial. (S.R. 828-40). Therefore, the trial court had no basis to have a bona-fide doubt as to Defendant's competency such that an evaluation was warranted. Id.

With regard to Defendant's claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to bring Defendant's imcompetence to the trial court's attention, this claim is refuted by the record. As previously discussed, defense counsel made a strategic decision to use Drs. Marina and Azan as experts over Dr. Nathanson and both of Drs. Marina and Azan opined that Defendant was competent. (See

evidentiary hearing exhibit A-21) Moreover, even Dr. Nathanson opined Defendant was marginally competent. (See evidentiary hearing exhibit A-22) Further, as previously stated, the three courtappointed experts, Drs. Castiello, Schwartz, and Jacobson, all opined that Defendant was clearly competent to stand trial. (S.R. 828-40). Thus, Defendant suffered no prejudice because any subsequent doctor who would have examined her would have most likely found her competent, as well. See Patton v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S749 (Fla. Sept. 28, 2000).

Lastly, Defendant has not met her burden to establish a substantive imcompetency claim. Dusky v. United States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960). Under a substantive imcompetency claim, Defendant is "entitled to no presumption of incompetency and must demonstrate his or her incompetency by a preponderance of the evidence." James v. Singletary, 957 F.2d 1562, 1572 (11th Cir. 1992). Further, "neither low intelligence, mental deficiency, nor bizarre, volatile, and irrational behavior can be equated with mental incompetence to stand trial." Medina v. Singletary, 59 F.3d 1095, 1107 (11th Cir. 1995). Defendant has clearly not met this standard. Indeed, all the doctors that examined Defendant at the time of trial, including Dr. Nathanson who found her marginally competent, opined that she was competent to stand trial. Defendant has presented no evidence to support a finding that she was, in fact, incompetent.

As Defendant cannot establish that counsel was deficient in

securing competent mental health evaluations for her or that she suffered any prejudice, the lower court properly denied this claim. Strickland.

ARGUMENT

V. THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT SHE IS INSANE TO BE EXECUTED.

Defendant alleges in this claim that she is insane to be executed but concedes that this claim is not ripe for review. Additionally, Defendant has set forth no facts which support such a claim. As such, the lower court properly denied this claim.

ARGUMENT

VI. DEFENDANT IS NOT INNOCENT OF THE DEATH PENALTY.

Defendant claims she is innocent of the death penalty because the only aggravating factor relied upon by the trial court, HAC, is vague and overbroad because it did not advise the jury that there could be no vicarious liability for this aggravating circumstance. However, as the issue concerning the constitutionality of this aggravating circumstance was not raised in the trial court, it is procedurally barred. Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). Furthermore, to the extent it was raised on direct appeal, it is also procedurally barred. Wournos v. State, 644 So. 2d 1012, 1020 n.5 (Fla. 1994). It should also be noted that the State arqued at trial that there was another aggravating factor that should have been found by the trial court, i.e., that the homicide was committed during the course of a felony, kidnapping. This Court determined that it did not have to decide on the State's cross-appeal, due to the applicability of the HAC aggravator. See Cardona v. State, 641 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 1994). Moreover, as Lazaro was in Defendant's custody during the eighteen months in which he was abused and eventually murdered, vicarious liability would not be an issue.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the trial court's order denying Defendant post conviction relief from his convictions should be affirmed.